# **RECEIVED**

10-19-2017

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP000712

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEVON DION JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From an Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief Entered in Milwaukee County, the Honorable David A. Hansher, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MARTHA K. ASKINS State Bar No. 1008032

Frank J. Remington Center University of Wisconsin Law School 975 Bascom Mall Madison, WI 53706 (608) 890-3541 martha.askins@wisc.edu

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

# **

ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT7
Jevon Jackson's <i>De Facto</i> Life-Without-Parole Sentence for Crimes He Committed While a Juvenile is Unconstitutional
A. Introduction and summary of argument7
B. Standard of review9
C. Roper, Graham, Miller and Montgomery have fundamentally altered the way courts must approach sentencing of juveniles. Now, a life-without-parole sentence for a juvenile is constitutional only under extremely limited circumstances.
1. <b>Roper v. Simmons</b> 11
2. <i>Graham v. Florida</i> 13
3. <i>Miller v. Alabama</i> 14
4. Montgomery v. Louisiana

D.	Because <i>Roper</i> and its progeny apply in Wisconsin, Jackson must be resentenced	17	
	1. <i>Miller</i> and <i>Montgomery</i> apply to discretionary life-without-parole sentences.	20	
	2. Resentencing for Jackson is not barred by <i>Ninham</i> or <i>Barbeau</i>	25	
E.	Because the trial court did not consider how Jackson, as a juvenile, was constitutionally different from an adult, Jackson must be resentenced	28	
CONCLUSIO	ON	36	
APPENDIX		.100	
CASES CITED			
-	urs, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (S.C.	27	
_	ginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242	17	
	v. State, 2014 WY 113, 334 P.3d 132 2014)1	9,27	
Brown v. Sta	nte, 10 N.E.3d 1 (Ind. 2014)	20	
	Commissioner of Correction, 317 Conn. 2, 115 A.3d 1031 (Conn. 2015)	19	
Estelle v. Ga	mble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)	12	

<i>Graham v. Florida</i> , 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011,
2021 (2010)
Henry v. State, 175 So. 3d 675 (Florida S. Ct. 2015)20
Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 367 (1993)13
<i>Landrum v. State</i> , 192 So. 3d 459, 460 (Sup. Ct. Fla. 2016)
<i>Luna v. State</i> , 387 P.3d 956 (Ok. 2016)25
Malvo v. Mathena,F.Supp. 3d , 2017 WL 2462188 (E.D. Va., 2017)25
<i>McKinley v. Butler</i> , 809 F.3d 908 (7 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2016)21, 24, 31
<i>Miller v. Alabama</i> , 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012)
<i>Montgomery v. Louisiana</i> ,U.S, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016)
Naovarath v. State, 105 Nev. 525, 779 P.2d 944 (Sup. Ct. Nev. 1989)
<i>Parker v. State</i> , 119 So.3d 987 (Mississippi Sup. Ct. 2013)20
<b>People v. Caballero</b> , 55 Cal. 4 <sup>th</sup> 262, 282 P.3d 291 (2012)
<b>People v. Guitierrez</b> , 58 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 1354, 171 Cal. Rptr. 3d 421, 324 P.3d 245 (Cal. 2014)27
<b>People v. Nieto</b> , 402 III.Dec. 521, 52 N.E.3d 442 (2016)

<b>People v. Reyes</b> , 2016 IL 119271, 407 III. Dec. 452, 63 N.E.3d 884 (2016)20
<b>Roper v. Simmons</b> , 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183 (2005)
<b>State v. Barbeau</b> , 2016 WI App 51, 370 Wis. 2d 736, 883 N.W.2d 520
State v. Berquist, 2002 WI App 39, ¶6, 250 Wis. 2d 792, 641 N.W.2d 179
State v. Boston, 363 P.3d 453 (Nev. S. Ct. 2015)20
State v. Long, 138 Ohio St. 3d 478, 8 N.E.3d 890 (Ohio 2014)
State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 398 (S. Ct. Iowa, 2014)38
<i>State v. Ninham</i> , 2011 WI 33, ¶45, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451
State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa, 2013)20
State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa, 2013)20
State v. Riley, 315 Conn. 637, 110 A.3d 1205 (Conn. 2015)
State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015)27
State v. Tatum, 2015 WL 728080, ¶5 (Ariz. Ct. App. Feb. 18, 2015), review denied (Jan. 5, 2016)24
State v. Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1
State v. Zuber, 227 N.J. 422, 429, 152 A.3d 197 (N.J. 2017)

<i>Tatum v. Arizona</i> , 137 S. Ct. 11 (Mem), 196 L.Ed. 284 (2016)
Veal v. State, 298 Ga. 691, 784 S.E.2d 403 (Sup. Ct. Ga. 2016)
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES CITED
<u>United States Constitution</u> Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution2, passim
Wisconsin Constitution Article I, Section 6 of the WI Constitution2,7,8,9
Wisconsin Statutes 809.30
974.062, 7
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED  A. Saper, Note: Juvenile Remorselessness: An Unconstitutional Sentencing Consideration, 38 NYU Review of Law & Social Change 99 (2014)
K. Henning, What's Wrong With Victim's Rights in Juvenile Court? Retributive Versus Rehabilitative System, 97 Cal L. Rev. 1107, 1149, August 2009

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Must Jevon Jackson be resentenced because his *de facto* life-without-parole sentence for crimes he committed while a juvenile is unconstitutional?

The trial court answered: No.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Jackson would welcome oral argument should the court find it helpful. Publication is warranted to develop the law in Wisconsin concerning the constitutionality of lifewithout-parole sentences imposed on offenders who were juveniles at the time of their crimes.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 26, 1995, Jevon Jackson was convicted by a jury in Milwaukee County, the Honorable David A. Hansher presiding, of first degree intentional homicide, armed robbery, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a short-barreled shotgun, all as party to the crime. (14). For the homicide conviction, the court sentenced Jackson to a life sentence with parole eligibility in the year 2070. (13). The court also imposed consecutive sentences totaling 32 years for the remaining convictions. (13). Under the court's sentences, Jackson will be parole eligible at age 101.

Jackson appealed, raising a single issue: whether the trial court erred in the exercise of its discretion when it gave an exhibit to the jury. The court of appeals affirmed his

conviction in 1997, and the supreme court denied his petition for review.

In January of 2017, Jackson filed a motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06. (36). He argued he should be resentenced in light of recent United States Supreme Court decisions which fundamentally changed the way courts must sentence juveniles. He argued that pursuant to *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, \_\_U.S.\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), his sentence, imposed for crimes committed while a juvenile, violates the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution, and thus is unconstitutional. He also asked the court to modify his sentence based on a new factor.

Judge Hansher denied the motion in a written decision. (40; App. 113-119). The court concluded that the Supreme Court decisions in *Miller* and *Montgomery* apply only to those jurisdictions where state law *requires* life-without-parole sentences, and thus do not control Jackson's case. (40:6-7; App. 118-119).

Jackson now appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jevon Jackson grew up in Milwaukee, the son of Donald Jackson, whom he does not recall ever meeting, and his mother, Rosetta Taylor. (50:10). Jackson's young life was marked by instability. His mother and her boyfriend, whom Jackson viewed like a father, separated when Jackson was 13. In his sixteen years before his incarceration for this case, Jackson lived in eight different residences. (50:15). On

one occasion, he and his mother were evicted for failure to pay rent. (50:15). In 1992 and 1993, he and his mother lived with his mother's cousin and her children and a grandchild. (50:15). After Jackson's mother was convicted of "welfare fraud" and placed on probation, requiring her to serve six months in the House of Corrections, Jackson lived in the basement of a relative's home. (50:10). While on probation, Jackson's mother was jailed for probation violations, including shoplifting and threatening a boyfriend with a knife.

While Jackson clearly loved his mother, there were problems at home. Jackson told the presentence writer he had not been abused as a child, but he also repoted his mother whipped him for discipline. (50:10). Dr. Itzhak Matusiak, who evaluated him in the juvenile court proceedings stemming from this case, stated he felt Jackson was protective of his mother and minimized the violence he had experienced at home through corporal punishment. (50: 14).

In 1992, Jackson spoke of his living situation to a teacher, resulting in a referral to DSS. (50:10). There was also a concern that Jackson had become suicidal as Jackson had told his mother he thought about killing himself, that he was disillusioned, and his life had no purpose. (50:10). By the time DSS interviewed Jackson, he said he no longer had those feelings. (50:10-11). He then moved in with his cousin's family where he set his own curfew, made his own meals and got himself to school. (50:11).

In that same year, he was the victim of an assault by another student. On December 2, 1992, he was severely beaten and treated at St. Michael's Hospital. (50:14). Jackson's mother reported she felt he had changed as a result of this beating. (50:11).

Family conflicts led to Jackson running away on at least two occasions. In August of 1993, just a few months before the crimes in this case, Jackson's mother hit him repeatedly after finding condoms in his possession. Jackson ran away for three days. (50:10). In another incident, he ran away from his aunt's residence, believing his aunt had turned against him. (Id.).

There were some positives in his life as well, however. In the three years before Jackson's offenses and incarceration, he had had three summer jobs though the Milwaukee "Step Up Program." (50:12). In 1991 he worked for the City Sanitation Department picking up trash and cleaning vacant lots. In 1992, he worked at the Atkinson Library, shelving and repairing books and reading to younger children. In the summer of 1993 he worked full-time for the Forestry Bureau. (*Id.*). He told the presentence writer his favorite job was babysitting his cousins' children. (*Id.*). He resisted the pressure to join a gang, and had no gang affiliations. (50:13).

Dr. Matusiak's evaluation concluded Jackson showed no oppositional disorder, conduct disorder or psychopathology. (50:13). The evaluation also showed Jackson's IQ as average. (*Id.*). While in jail, he studied for his GED. (50:12). Jackson told the presentence writer he wanted to be either a computer programmer or an electrical engineer someday. (*Id.*).

On September 28, 1993, two months before the crimes in this case, Jackson was referred to Milwaukee County Children's Court following an arrest for battery at his high school. (50:8). That case was still pending at the time of the crimes in this case. (*Id.*). Jackson stated the victim in the battery had bumped him in an intimidating way and he had reacted by hitting him repeatedly. (*Id.*). Jackson said it was

the victim's friend who had severely beaten him the previous year. (*Id.*). He also told the police he was having some problems at home and was upset. (*Id.*).

The crimes in this case occurred on November 16, 1993. Jackson, then 16-years-old, and his friend Larry Chesser, also a juvenile, had started talking about robbing someone about a week earlier. (2:3). Larry evidently knew of someone who had committed an armed robbery and had not been caught. (50:3). On at least one prior occasion, the boys took Larry's father's sawed-off shotgun and walked around looking for a victim. (2:3). Jackson said that at this time the boys did not have bullets for the gun. (2:3).

On November 16, Larry again took his father's shotgun and met Jackson. (2:3). This time, Larry had two bullets for the shotgun. (2:4). The boys took the gun into an alley where Larry loaded it. (Id.). The boys walked to Wendy's and McDonald's to look for potential robbery victims. (2;3). Eventually they walked to a Popeye's where the two friends saw C.S. and her young daughter going in to a Popeye's Chicken restaurant. When C.S. and her daughter came out of the restaurant carrying food, the boys approached them in the parking lot. (2:4). C.S. told the boys she did not have any money. Jackson told her to get on her knees. Jackson shot C.S. in the head, killing her. Jackson told the police he forgot the gun was loaded, that the victim made him angry, and that he cocked the weapon to scare the victim. (2:4). The boys ran, throwing away the gun and the food C.S. had been carrying. (2:4). Jackson would later tell the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wis. Stat. § 809.86 provides that victims are to be identified by initial or other appropriate pseudonym except in homicide cases. This is a homicide case, and as such, the victim could be identified by name. However, the victim was with her daughter at the time of the crime. Therefore, the appellant elects to use the victim's initials.

presentence writer that he had smoked marijuana three times that day. (50:14).

The state charged Jackson with multiple crimes, including first degree intentional homicide as party to the crime. (2). Following a contested hearing, Jackson was waived into adult court. Because of the waiver proceedings, his trial did not take place until 1995. A jury convicted Jackson of each of the charges. (14).

At sentencing, the state recommended that the court impose a parole eligibility date of 2060 with respect to Jackson's life sentence for the homicide. (48: 16). The defense asked the court to grant parole eligibility after 30 years. (48:20). The court, the Honorable David A. Hansher presiding, rejected both recommendations and set a parole eligibility date for the homicide at 2070. (48:37; App. 111). The court also imposed consecutive sentences for the remaining charges (48:38; App. 112). All totaled, Jackson will be parole eligible in 2078, when he is 101 years old.

## In its sentencing comments, the court said in part:

Life imprisonment is probably an insufficient sentence for you in this case. I think a death penalty would be insufficient penalty for you in this case because you're not going to suffer. You say you suffer, but life imprisonment may deprive you of freedom but it's not going to have you suffer, and I think there should be a good deal of suffering. I only pray that after you die, be it in prison or out of prison, that somehow you have to endure some personal hell for eternity for what you did.

(48: 37; App. 111).

Jackson filed a direct appeal pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.30. (22). He argued a single issue: whether the court

misused its discretion when it gave the jury, during its deliberations, a police report which the state had highlighted to emphasize certain parts of Jackson's statement. (25). The court of appeals affirmed, and the supreme court denied his petition for review. (25; 26).

In January of 2017, Jackson filed a motion for resentencing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06, arguing his sentence is unconstitutional under both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions in light of United States Supreme Court decisions. (36). In the alternative, he moved for sentence modification, arguing the change in the law constituted a new factor. Judge Hansher, who heard the trial and sentenced Jackson in 1995, denied the motion, concluding that *Miller* and *Montgomery* do not apply to sentences imposed under Wisconsin's statutory scheme. (40; App. 113-119).

Jackson is now 39-years-old. He has spent 23 years of his life in jail or prison.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Jevon Jackson Must Be Resentenced Because His *De Facto* Life-without-parole Sentence for Crimes He Committed While a Juvenile is Unconstitutional.

## A. Introduction and summary of argument.

Jevon Jackson, convicted of homicide committed when he was 16-years-old, seeks a new sentencing hearing in light of recent United States Supreme Court decisions. He does not seek a new trial, nor does he renew his sentence modification claim. He argues below that Supreme Court decisions interpreting the Eighth Amendment as it relates to sentencing juveniles require a new sentencing hearing in his case.

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against cruel and unusual punishments. *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2021 (2010); *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶45, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451. The two constitutional provisions are substantively identical in language. As such, the courts of this state are largely guided by the Supreme Court's Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. *Id*.

Jevon Jackson was sentenced in 1995 to life in prison without the possibility of parole until the year 2078 when he would be 101 years old. More than a decade after Jackson's sentencing, the United States Supreme Court began to decide a series of cases which have fundamentally changed the way juveniles are sentenced in homicide and other serious felony cases.

Now, a life sentence without the possibility of parole for a juvenile must be exceedingly rare. Such a sentence may lawfully be imposed only if the juvenile offender is utterly incorrigible and irredeemable, and only if the crime was not the result of the "unfortunate yet transient immaturity" characteristic of all juveniles. *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 479, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012).

Before the sentencing court can lawfully impose lifewithout-parole, that court must first find there is no possibility that the juvenile could ever be released safely to the community, no matter how much time he spends in prison, no matter how many treatment and rehabilitation programs he completes, and no matter how much the offender's youth and immaturity played a role in the crimes committed.

Because the court in this case sentenced Jevon Jackson long before the Supreme Court began its fundamental change regarding juvenile sentencing, the sentencing court did not consider what is now required before sentencing a juvenile to life-without-parole. Consequently, Jackson's sentence violates the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution, and he must be resentenced.

Jackson's argument has five sections. First, Jackson discusses the applicable standard of review. Second, he discusses the United States Supreme Court decisions which have fundamentally altered the sentencing landscape for juvenile offenders. Third, he argues why the Supreme Court decisions apply to Wisconsin's sentencing scheme. Fourth, he argues that previous Wisconsin cases, *Ninham* and *State v. Barbeau*, 2016 WI App 51, 370 Wis. 2d 736, 883 N.W.2d 520, do not apply to his case. And finally, he argues that the court's sentencing comments did not meet the standards now required by the Supreme Court's decisions.

#### B. Standard of review.

Jackson seeks a new sentencing hearing because his life-without-parole sentence violates the Eighth Amendment. Constitutional interpretations are questions of law which this court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Berquist*, 2002 WI App 39, ¶6, 250 Wis. 2d 792, 641 N.W.2d 179. This court must review the constitutionality of Jackson's life-without-parole sentence pursuant to a *de novo* standard.

Previous Wisconsin cases challenging life-withoutparole sentences are inapposite to Jackson's challenge. In *Ninham*, the defendant mounted a categorical challenge to the constitutionality of a life-without-parole sentence for *all* 14-year-olds. As such, Ninham had the "heavy burden" to demonstrate that the statute was unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *Ninham* at ¶44.

Similarly, in *Barbeau*, the defendant argued the Wisconsin statutory scheme for sentencing all juveniles for a first-degree homicide violated the state and federal Constitutions prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Barbeau, 370 Wis. 2d at 755,¶ 23. A facial constitutional challenge requires the challenger to prove unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. presumption to sustain the law if at all possible will be indulged, and if any doubt exists about the constitutionality of a statute, that doubt will be resolved in favor of constitutionality." *Id.* at ¶29, citing *Ninham* at ¶44.

Unlike *Ninham* and *Barbeau*, Jackson's challenge is to *his* sentence. He argues that his sentence is unconstitutional because the sentencing court did not apply the legal standards which are now a prerequisite to a lifewithout-parole sentence. As such, his claim is analogous to that raised in *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1. There, the court observed that because a defendant has a constitutional right to be sentenced upon accurate information, whether the defendant has been denied that due process right is a constitutional issue the appellate court reviews *de novo*. *Id*. at ¶9.

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