RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-10-2018

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP712

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEVON DION JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID A. HANSHER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Jackson's life sentence with a parole eligibility date after 75 years does not amount to cruel and unusual punishment.

A. Principles of law relating to cruel and unusual challenges to a criminal sentence.

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits cruel and unusual punishment: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." The Wisconsin Supreme Court has interpreted article I, section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Eighth Amendment. *Ninham*, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 45.

The Supreme Court in *Graham* explained that there are two types of Eighth Amendment challenges applicable to criminal sentences. First, there is a type of "as-applied" challenge, which challenges the length of a term-of-years sentence as disproportionate "given all the circumstances in a particular case." *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 59 (2010). Second, there is a categorical challenge, which challenges an entire class of sentences as disproportionate based on either "the nature of the offense" or "the characteristics of the offender." *Id.* at 59–60.

An as-applied challenge is *not* a challenge to the court's exercise of sentencing discretion. Rather it is aimed at achieving uniformity in the interpretation and application of constitutional law. "The test for whether a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment and whether a sentence [i]s excessive are virtually identical in Wisconsin." *State v. Davis*, 2005 WI App 98, ¶ 21, 281 Wis. 2d 118, 698 N.W.2d 823. Wisconsin has articulated the test as a determination that the sentence is "so excessive and unusual, and so

disproportionate to the offense committed, as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Pratt*, 36 Wis. 2d 312, 322, 153 N.W.2d 18 (1967)).

The reviewing court does not independently weigh sentencing factors in an as-applied challenge. Whether a sentencing court properly exercised its discretion is a discrete question, which is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *See State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197.

The United States Supreme Court has explained "we do not adopt or imply approval of a general rule of appellate review of sentences." Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 290 n.16 (1983). "[I]t is not the role of an appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the sentencing court as to the appropriateness of a particular sentence; rather, in applying the Eighth Amendment the appellate court decides only whether the sentence under review is *within constitutional limits.*" Id. (emphasis added). There is "substantial deference that must be accorded to legislatures and sentencing courts." Id. As such, "a reviewing court rarely will be required to engage in an extended analysis to determine that a sentence is not constitutionally disproportionate." Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has taken heed of that cautionary instruction. See State v. Paske, 163 Wis. 2d 52, 70, 471 N.W.2d 55 (1991).

Of particular relevance, in *Ninham*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that a juvenile-life-without-parole sentence was not unconstitutional as-applied. The court explained the proper analysis: "[W]hat constitutes adequate punishment is ordinarily left to the discretion of the trial judge. If the sentence is within the statutory limit, appellate courts will not interfere unless *clearly* cruel and unusual." *Ninham*, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 85 (emphasis added) (quoting Hayes v. United States, 238 F.2d 318, 322 (10th Cir. 1956)) (additional citations omitted). "A sentence is *clearly* cruel and unusual *only if* the sentence is so excessive and unusual, and so disproportionate to the offense committed, as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *Id.* (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citations omitted).

The court concluded that "[t]here is no question that Ninham's punishment is severe. but it is not disproportionately so." Ninham, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 86. Ninham's crime, like Jackson's, was horrific and senseless. *Id.* The court weighed that against Ninham's young age and concluded Ninham's youth did not "automatically remove his punishment out of the realm of proportionate." Id. The court refused to "interfere" with the circuit court's sentencing discretion because the circuit court imposed a sentence "well within its statutory authority." Id.

B. Jackson's as-applied challenge was expressly rejected in *Ninham*, and this Court is bound by our supreme court's decision that a juvenile's age does not automatically remove life-without-parole from the realm of constitutionally proportionate sentences.

The question presented in this case is whether the holding in *Ninham*, that a juvenile offender's age does not "automatically remove his punishment out of the realm of proportionate," remains true in light of *Montgomery*. Jackson does not address that portion of the *Ninham* decision, but argues "a life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile offender is *presumed* unconstitutional as violative of the Eighth Amendment." (Jackson's Br. 26 (emphasis added).) He asserts that a juvenile-life-withoutparole sentence can be constitutional only if the sentencing court made specific findings about the juvenile offender's youth to determine whether the crime reflected "unfortunate yet transient immaturity" and whether the juvenile offender was the "rare juvenile . . . whose crime reflected irreparable corruption." (Jackson's Br. 27–35.)

Jackson's as-applied argument is flawed. Again, an asapplied challenge is not a challenge to the court's exercise of sentencing discretion. "[I]t is not the role of an appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the sentencing court as to the appropriateness of a particular sentence; rather, in applying the Eighth Amendment the appellate court decides only whether the sentence under review is within constitutional limits." Helm, 463 U.S. at 290 n.16 (emphasis added). Even if Miller and Montgomery undermine the rationale for the court's decision in *Ninham*. those cases expressly refused to place juvenile-life-withoutparole sentences outside of constitutional limits.

Respectfully, this Court is bound by *Ninham* and lacks the authority to "overrule, modify or withdraw language" from prior supreme court decisions or its own decisions. *Cook* v. *Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189–90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Only the supreme court has the power to overrule, modify, or withdraw language from prior Wisconsin cases. *Zarder* v. *Humana Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI 35, ¶ 54, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 782 N.W.2d 682. There is no way around *Ninham*, and if this Court believes that *Ninham* was wrongly decided or that the reasoning was flawed, it may certify the case to the supreme court or "decide the appeal, adhering to a prior case but stating its belief that the prior case was wrongly decided." *Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d at 190. What this Court cannot do is adopt Jackson's position his sentence is unconstitutional as applied.

C. *Miller, Montgomery* and subsequent decisions related to juvenile-life-withoutparole sentences for the crime of homicide are not as expansive as Jackson suggests.

If this Court disagrees that *Ninham* controls, the Court should nonetheless reject Jackson's expansive reading of *Miller* and *Montgomery*. Neither decision requires that Jackson be resentenced. Jackson was not sentenced to a mandatory juvenile-life-without-parole sentence, and *Miller* and *Montgomery* do not require a specific exercise of sentencing discretion for a juvenile sentenced under a discretionary life-with-parole scheme.

1. Miller v. Alabama and Wisconsin's response in State v. Barbeau.

The United States Supreme Court held in *Miller* that the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishments "forbids a *sentencing scheme* that *mandates* life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 479 (2012) (emphasis added). However, the Court did *not* hold that a sentence must guarantee release before the conclusion of a life sentence. *Id.* at 479 (citing *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75).

The *Miller* Court looked at whether the sentencing scheme deprived a sentencing court of the *discretion* to sentence a juvenile to any sentence other than a life sentence without the possibility of parole. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465, 489. The Court discussed four age related factors that a sentencing court lacked the power to consider in a mandatory scheme: (1) "chronological age and its hallmark features—among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences"; (2) "the family and home environment" that a juvenile normally cannot escape; (3) "the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of [the defendant's] participation in the conduct and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him"; and (4) "the possibility of rehabilitation." *Id.* at 477–78.

The Court concluded that a mandatory scheme "runs afoul of our cases' requirement of individualized sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties." *Id.* at 465. *Miller* requires a sentencing court to "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at 480.

The *Miller* Court cautioned that its "decision does not categorically bar a penalty for a class of offenders or type of crime—as, for example, [the Court] did in *Roper*³ or *Graham*." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 483. Rather, the Court "mandate[d] only that a sentencer follow a certain process considering an offender's youth and attendant characteristics—before imposing a particular penalty." *Id*.

After *Miller*, Wisconsin began to see more challenges to juvenile-life-without-parole sentences. In 2016, this Court decided *State v. Barbeau*, 2016 WI App 51, 370 Wis. 2d 736, 883 N.W.2d 520, *review denied*, 2016 WI 98, 372 Wis. 2d 275, 891 N.W.2d 408, and cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 821 (2017). This Court reasoned that "the United States Supreme Court did 'not consider [the] alternative argument that the Eighth Amendment requires a categorical bar on life without parole for juveniles, or at least for those 14 and younger." *Id.* ¶ 32 (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479). The *Barbeau* court concluded that *Miller* did not invalidate Wisconsin's scheme because our scheme is discretionary and "what the United States Supreme Court in *Miller* found unconstitutional was a statutory scheme that mandates a punishment of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for a juvenile

³ Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

convicted of intentional homicide." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 33. The Supreme Court denied the petition for certiorari in *Barbeau* without comment. *Barbeau v*. *Wisconsin*, 137 S. Ct. 821 (2017).⁴

2. Montgomery v. Louisiana and Wisconsin's response in State v. Paape.

In *Montgomery*, the U.S. Supreme Court clarified that Miller announced a substantive rule of constitutional law and a defendant may benefit from its retroactive application on collateral review. Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736 (2016). Contrary to the Miller decision, the Montgomery Court concluded that Miller "rendered life without parole an unconstitutional penalty for 'a class of defendants because of their status'-that is, juvenile offenders whose crimes reflect the transient immaturity of youth." Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 734.⁵ The Court recognized that "Miller . . . did not bar a punishment for all juvenile offenders, as the Court did in Roper or Graham." Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 734 (emphasis added). The Court concluded, however, that "Miller did bar life without parole ... for all but the rarest of juvenile offenders, those whose crimes reflect permanent incorrigibility." Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 734.

The *Montgomery* Court clarified that "*Miller's* substantive holding [is] that life without parole is an excessive sentence for children whose crimes reflect

⁴ While *Barbeau* was decided by our supreme court shortly after the decision in *Montgomery* issued, the U.S. Supreme Court's denial of certiorari in *Barbeau* took place well after.

⁵ In a dissenting opinion, Justice Scalia wrote "[i]t is plain as day that the majority is not applying *Miller*, but rewriting it." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 743.

transient immaturity." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 735. In order for a juvenile-life-without-parole sentence to pass constitutional muster, "*Miller* requires a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender's youth and attendant characteristics before determining that life without parole is a proportionate sentence." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 734. "A hearing where 'youth and its attendant characteristics' are considered as sentencing factors is necessary to separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not." *Id.* at 735 (emphasis added) (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465).

The *Montgomery* decision *did not* invalidate discretionary juvenile-life-without-parole sentences. Nor did it render juvenile-life-without-parole sentences presumptively unconstitutional. Rather, the Court held that "[e]ven if a court considers a child's age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflects 'unfortunate yet transient immaturity."" *Id.* at 734.

Neither *Miller* nor *Montgomery* requires that the sentencing court make a specific finding or exercise its discretion a particular way. *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 735. *Miller* "speaks only to the degree of procedure . . . mandated in order to implement its substantive guarantee." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 735. "In light of what this Court has said in *Roper, Graham*, and *Miller* about how children are constitutionally different from adults in their level of culpability, however, [a defendant] must be given *the opportunity* to show their crime did not reflect irreparable corruption. . . ." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 736–37 (emphasis added).

In *State v. Paape*, No. 2015AP2462-CR, 2017 WL 2791576 (Ct. App. June 28, 2017) (unpublished) (R-App. 101–05), this Court recognized *Montgomery*'s characterization of *Miller* "as requiring a sentencing court to

consider a juvenile offender's youth before imposing a sentence of life imprisonment without parole, as well as restricting such a sentence to the 'rarest of juvenile reflect those whose permanent offenders. crimes incorrigibility." Paape, 2017 WL 2791576, ¶ 14 (citing Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 732–36). (R-App. 103.) This Court implicitly rejected the argument that that holding required the sentencing court to make a specific type of finding, and concluded that there was no *Miller* violation where the sentencing court "explicitly considered the influence of Paape's immaturity on his commission of the crime." Paape, 2017 WL 2791576, ¶ 15. (R-App. 103.)⁶

3. The Supreme Court's disagreement on the effect of *Montgomery* in decisions to grant, vacate, and remand.

After *Montgomery*, the U.S. Supreme Court issued numerous grant, vacate, and remand orders. In two of those orders, addressed below, members of the Court wrote concurring opinions that highlighted the Court's disagreement as to how *Montgomery* should be interpreted and applied by the states. While the State is including these orders here, it cautions that these orders are not final determinations on the merits and carry no precedential weight. Gonzalez v. Justices of Mun. Court of Boston, 420 F.3d 5, 7 (1st Cir. 2005); see also Diaz v. Stephens, 731 F.3d 370, 378 (5th Cir. 2013).

⁶ The State recognizes that the sentencing court's consideration of age and its attendant characteristics in *Paape* was different from what occurred in this case. *See State v. Paape*, No. 2015AP2462-CR, 2017 WL 2791576, ¶ 3 (Ct. App. June 28, 2017). (R-App. 101.)

a. Adams v. Alabama (May 2016).

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